ANNIVERSARY MEETING

Minutes of the Anniversary Meeting of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, held in the Lecture Theatre of the Royal Museum of Scotland, on *Monday 1 December 1997*, Miss Naomi Tarrant and Mr Ian Shepherd, Vice-Presidents, in the Chair.

Apologies had been received from a number of Fellows.

The Minutes of the Meeting of Monday 10 November were read and approved.

Miss Tarrant gave the President's apologies; his absence was due to a long-standing commitment in the Netherlands.

The Scrutineers for the ballots for office-bearers and Fellows, Mr John Ellis, Professor Stephen Brown and Mr Patrick Ashmore, having been appointed the ballots were closed. It was announced that there had been one withdrawal from the ballot for the election for Fellows.

The Director read the following:

ANNUAL REPORT

Membership

The Fellowship of the Society now stands at 3115. In the past year 180 Fellows have taken up election, or been reinstated; 37 names have been removed from the Roll due to death, and 66 through lapse of subscription or resignation. There are, at present, 22 Honorary Fellows.

Meetings

The Society has held the customary programme of activities through the year. Nine lecture meetings were held between December 1996 and November 1997. The session included two open lectures: the Public Lecture, 'Pilgrims to St Ethernan' was given by Peter Yeoman, Fife Council Archaeologist and, to mark the Science Festival, although this year the Lecture meeting lay outside the Science Festival period, Andrew Sherratt delivered a well-attended lecture on "With baleful weeds and precious-juiced flowers": Grooved Ware, grape-cups and prehistoric pharmocognosy'.

The six Rhind Lectures 'The Food of the Scots' were delivered over the weekend of 25–27 April by our Honorary Fellow Professor Alexander Fenton. These will form part of the Compendium of Scottish Culture to be published at the Millennium.

At the Recent Acquisitions Meeting in March Fellows were privileged to hear members of the Social and Technological History Department of the NMS talk on recently acquired items for the National Collections including probably the largest item that we have seen at an acquisitions meeting — a pony carriage; Fellows were also interested by railway memorabilia; items relating to the East Fortune airfield and airships; Second World War items, including tape-recordings, relating to the Women's Forestry Corps and a rare Enigma machine. We are most grateful to the NMS staff, including Gavin Sprott, the Keeper of the newly formed department, who were involved in this event — truly a recent acquisitions meeting.

Three Conferences were held in 1997: 'Architecture and Lordship in Medieval and Renaissance Scotland' in association with the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland and the Scottish Baronial Research Group was held in May, as was the Research in Progress Conference under the joint auspices of the Society and CSA, which was this year organized by ourselves and highlighted research work grant-aided by the Society. A Conference on 'The St Andrews Sarcophagus' organized by the Society in conjunction with Historic Scotland, the National Museums of Scotland and the National Committee on Carved Stones in Scotland was held in September.

In June the Excursion to Upper Clydesdale was guided by Tam Ward. This was well attended and thoroughly enjoyed by all; no Fellow could have failed to have been impressed by the enthusiasm and expertise not only of Tam Ward himself but also by the evidence of the dedicated work of the members of the Lanark and District Archaeological Society and the Biggar Museum Trust, members of which also provided an excellent high tea.

The North-East Section Annual Report

The Section held eight meetings with the same programme as in Edinburgh. In place of the April lecture by Andrew Sherratt, the Society held its AGM which was followed by a talk by Diane Morgan on 'The Leper Colony and beyond: an exploration of the Spital, Aberdeen'.

Revised rules for the Section were approved by Council and at the Society's AGM.

Summer excursions were arranged to Raedykes and the fisher touns of the Mearns; the Cleaven Dyke and the excavation of Fordhouse Barrow at the House of Dun, and the Spital in Aberdeen.

The Lecture meetings continue to be held in Marischal Museum, University of Aberdeen, and were well attended. Membership of the Section stands at 278.

The Committee for 1996-7 was Elizabeth Curtis (Chairman), Paul Pillath (Vice-Chairman), Neil Curtis (Secretary), John Cruse (Treasurer), Frank Donnelly, Alison Jaffray, Margaret Jubb, Aidan Mulkerrin, Bill Nicolaisen and Graham Steele.

Chalmers-Jervise Prize Essay

The Chalmers-Jervise Prize has, for 1997, been awarded to Kenneth Veitch for an essay entitled: *The Gaelic Church in Northern Britain AD 664–AD 717: a re-assessment*. This will be published in Volume 127 of the *Proceedings*.

Research Grants

In accordance with Law 1 — 'The purpose of the Society shall be the Study of the ANTIQUITIES AND HISTORY OF SCOTLAND, more particularly by means of archaeological research' — the grant-aiding of research remains one of the most important areas of the Society's activities.

Reports on the work carried out are supplied by recipients at the end of the year and are held in the Society's office, or placed in the NMS Library, as appropriate. It is a condition of grant that there is full compliance with current Scottish Treasure Trove legislation and that reports on fieldwork and related projects are presented for publication in *Discovery and Excavation in Scotland* (DES) published annually by the CSA.

Council, on the recommendation of the Research Committee, awarded grants for 1997 from the General Fund (including investment income from the Dorothy Marshall Bequest) in addition to awards from the Angus Graham Bequest for illustrations in the *Proceedings* and the Gunning Jubilee Bequest. The following grants were approved from the General Research Fund (including investment income from the Dorothy Marshall Bequest): To Professor L Alcock for work on Archaeology & History in Northern Britain AD 500-850; to Dr D H Caldwell for the Finlaggan Project: excavation of Council Island midden; to G D R Cruickshank for work on European Export Pottery in South-East Asia; to Dr P Z Dransart for the Scottish Episcopal Palaces Project (Fetternear); to Dr M R Edmonds for the St Kilda Stone Tools survey; to G B Ericsson for Monymusk Church, architectural survey; to S T Farrell for the Nairn Graveyard Survey Project; to A G C Hale for the Inner Clyde Intertidal survey; to Miss A S Henshall & Dr J N G Ritchie for work on the Chambered Cairns of Ross-shire and Inverness-shire; to J MacDonald and ACFA for the Raasay Project; to R MacPherson for research in Spanish archives on Francis, 5th Earl of Bothwell; to Dr E R Page for the Stirling Ancient Bridge project; to H K Sackett for the Orkney Township and Landscape Survey; to the Scottish Historic Buildings Trust for High St, Kirkcaldy historical & archaeological investigations; to I G Scott for work on the Visual Index of Early Medieval Carved Stones: Easter Ross & Moray; to J Symonds for the Flora MacDonald Landscape Project; to P J Turnbull for research on Glassmaking in the Forth Basin; to T S M Ward for the Prehistory North of Biggar Project: Melbourne excavations; to Dr J R Watts for research on Scalan; to A L Wise for excavations at Lilliesleaf of the Iron Age/Roman period.

The Gunning Jubilee Gift was awarded to Dr M C Bishop for visits to Germany to further his research on Roman armour.

Publications

The President has, in his letter in the September Newsletter, drawn the attention of Fellows to the retiral, as Publication Convener, of Dr J N Graham Ritchie. He has indicated the measure of thanks that are due to Dr Ritchie for his work but it would be appropriate to record again that the greatly increased output of the Society's publications and the installation of a salaried Editor during his term in office added to his normal duties as Convener; additionally, as Convener, he was involved in the decisions over the award of the Chalmers-Jervise Prize and the Robert Stevenson Award.

Proceedings

For the second year in succession the Society has published, again with significant grant-aid from Historic Scotland, a monumentally proportioned Volume of the *Proceedings*; Volume 126 is the first volume to be produced under the Editorship of Mr Jerry O'Sullivan who has toiled since last year on the task. There are now several Fellows who have at various times been involved in the production of the *Proceedings*; they, as

well as the increasing number of contributors, will be aware of the many stages involved in the process and consequent correspondence required between the Editor and themselves.

Monograph Series

Monograph 12 Excavations within Edinburgh Castle: 1988–91 by Stephen Driscoll and Peter Yeoman, and grant-aided by Historic Scotland, was published in the Summer.

The Series Editor, Mrs Alexandra Shepherd, must be thanked for her devotion to her task; due to the increasing number of Monographs in production, she is now assisted by Dr Anna Ritchie. We again urge Fellows to support the series by taking advantage of their opportunity to purchase these at the special rate — the benefit will be theirs.

Newsletter

Two issues of this were produced and circulated in February and September 1997.

The Work of the Society

The Office moved in late December 1996 to the former Council Room in the Findlay Building, Queen Street and part of the old Library, Queen Street; the second stage of the Office move, up to Chambers Street is imminent; the inevitable disruption caused by the move, in addition to the administration of the Society and Fellowship affairs, has been time-consuming. We look forward to being installed in our new accommodation in mid-March, when we will take the opportunity to update and reorganize some aspects of our technology and procedures.

As the President indicated in his September letter to Fellows, it is our intention to continue to expand our influence on matters in which we have an interest and expertise in the likely changed political circumstances of the Scottish Parliament.

The Society has also expressed, publically, its concern over the proposed introduction of admission charges to the National Museums of Scotland and, although grateful to the Trustees that Fellows are to be allowed free admission, considers that given the major educational remit of the Museums, if charges are unavoidable, consideration should be given to allowing free entry to all those in full-time education. We are pleased to inform Fellows tonight that the Trustees have now decided that free entry will be allowed to all those under 18 in full-time education.

The Society, of course, remains active in the heritage field and we are, as Fellows will be aware, consulted on archaeological issues by a wide variety of organizations; we continue to be represented on a large number of bodies: The Ancient Monuments Board for Scotland; the National Trust for Scotland; the Council for British Archaeology; the Council for Scotlish Archaeology; the Traprain Law Management Group; the British and Irish Archaeological Bibliography; the Scottish Field School; the Scottish Wildlife and Countryside Link; Scottish Archaeological Link; the Association for the Protection of Rural Scotland; the National Committee on Carved Stones; the Mouswald Trust; the Dalrymple Trust and the User Panel of The Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland and the Portable Antiquities Working Group.

The Society remains grateful to the members of Council, the Committees, and the other representatives who are unstinting in their assistance to the Director in these matters; she is particularly grateful to the President and the Treasurer, the Vice-Presidents and Conveners of the Committees (tribute has already been paid to our retiring Publications Convener, Dr J N G Ritchie). Thanks are due as well, of course, to the representatives of the Society on various bodies; of these particular thanks are due to our representative on the National Trust for Scotland, Dr Jane Murray; our representative on the Ancient Monuments Board, Mr W D H Sellar, and to Jill Harden who retires this evening as our representative on the Scottish Wildlife and Countryside Link.

Late last year the Society commissioned, from Mr Crear McCartney, the stained glass window for the Founders' Room in the Museum of Scotland; Professor Peter Jones, who chairs the Client and Art for Architecture Committees of the Museum of Scotland Project and is a member of the Society's Working

Group on the window, and the Director visited the artist's studio in July to see the work in progress and cut the first pieces of glass. The design for the window features in a major new book on Scottish stained glass. A photographic record of the work from initial design to installation of the window is being undertaken by Niall Hendrie, who has also been recording the construction of the Museum of Scotland and associated works.

We hope that Fellows will be able, after the next Anniversary Meeting, to see the window in place in the Founders' Room.

The Library

We hope that Fellows are satisfied with the new arrangements; we remain grateful to the National Museums Library for their assistance in minimizing the problems associated with the staff cut-backs and their cooperation and willingness to take on board suggestions from Fellows. The Society has written to the Secretary of State for Scotland pointing out the importance of this national resource and requesting that consideration be given to providing additional funding to allow for higher staffing levels.

Administration

Again there have been no changes to the Office staff: Mrs Fionna Ashmore continues as Director, Mrs Maureen McLeod as Assistant Treasurer and Mrs June Rowan as Administrative Assistant; the Monograph administration continues to be dealt with in the office, mainly by Mrs Rowan, and Dr Rob Sands remains our computer adviser. Mr Jerry O'Sullivan, the Editor, carries out his task from the office. As always we would remind Fellows that all Staff work part-time. Fellows are always welcome to visit the office, but we would ask them to ring ahead, particularly with the imminent moves.

Aspects of the Office work are eased by the voluntary help provided by Fellows especially by Mr Maurice Carmichael, who continues to help the Assistant Treasurer in dealing with Fellowship records and subscriptions, and Mr Patrick Ashmore, who continues to undertake some of the Society typesetting.

Thanks are also due to the regular, dedicated, group of envelope fillers: Mr and Mrs Adamson; Major & Mrs Cave-Browne; Miss M E Doull; Mrs J Fleming; Mr H G Ford; Mrs S Grossmith; Miss M R Hilton; Mr G A Hutcheson; Mr D Jones; Mr Gordon Maxwell; Mrs R Meldrum, Mr R W & Dr J Munro; Dr B J Murray; Mr J C Parry; Professor M Smallwood and Miss C Sym.

Finally, thanks are due to the National Museums of Scotland and those members of the Museum staff who help with bookings and other arrangements behind the scenes; very particular thanks are also due to Grant MacRae whose services as projectionist at our meetings, seminars and conferences contributes significantly to the success of the events.

Treasurer's Report

The Society has enjoyed another year in a favourable financial position, with little substantial overall change in terms of income and expenditure and with a surplus, at £27,534, almost identical to that of the previous year.

There has been a decrease in investment income, due mainly to the impossibility of replacing high interest Government stocks with any similar high interest coupons. The cessation in April 1997 of transitional relief for tax credits on UK dividends also contributed to the decrease. The drop in basic-rate tax from 25% to 24% accounts for the reduction in tax recoverable from Deeds of Covenant. Basic-rate taxation has been reduced further to 23% from April 1997, so this source of income will continue to diminish. Bank interest is down because there was less cash kept on term deposit and lower interest rates.

However, the increase in overall individual membership numbers has meant a corresponding rise in subscription income, and the remainder of Mrs J W Hendrie's bequest has been received. The value of such legacies to the Society must again be stressed.

On the expenditure side the miscellaneous administrative costs have increased, in part because of the move across Queen Street from York Buildings to temporary accommodation in Findlay Building in December 1996. Further expenditure will attend the imminent next stage of the move from Queen Street to Chambers Street.

Costs of the commemorative plaques presented by the Society and placed in the old library in Queen Street and the new library in Chambers Street are included under 'Grants made', while the cost of the library farewell reception is shown under 'Miscellaneous'. Other grant expenditure includes £1000 to the Council for Scottish Archaeology, £600 to the British & Irish Archaeological Bibliography, and £630 towards the conservation of important Society manuscripts held by the library of the National Museums of Scotland.

The amount of grant support from Historic Scotland in respect of Volume 125 of the *Proceedings* was substantial, and the overall cost to the Society of the double volume was, thanks to this support, much the same as for previous volumes. Thus, although the total cost of Volume 125 was £104,311, the actual cost to the Society was £31,569. As always, the total publication costs of the next volume are at this stage estimates. Volume 126 will also be a double volume and the continuing contribution to publication costs by Historic Scotland is gratefully acknowledged. The publication partnership between the Society and Historic Scotland over the double-volume issues is enabling a remarkable achievement within the context of British archaeological publishing as a whole.

The balance sheet shows that the net assets of the Society have increased from £574,892 to £696,619. This is partly as a result of surpluses on the annual revaluation of shareholdings and is encouraging, although future revaluation gains of over 20% on equities cannot be expected to continue. As investments are included in the accounts at their market value, any future fall in share values will of course cause a diminution of the assets.

The Edinburgh Castle monograph was launched in May, but could not be advertised to Fellows until the September 1997 mailing, so the anticipated sales of this attractive and authoritative report will not be manifest until future accounts. This volume was subvented by Historic Scotland; those monographs currently in production which are not eligible for the same subvention may require contributions from the general funds. During this year Dr Anna Ritchie has begun to assist Mrs Alexandra Shepherd in the editing of the monographs because of the increase in the number of typescripts being considered and taken forward for publication.

Total expenditure from Special Funds for research amounted to £13,904. This is less than the previous year due to a drop in appropriate applications to the Research Committee. No requests for bursary funds were received. However, after a gap of several years, the Chalmers-Jervise Fund prize, currently £500, was awarded for an essay to be published in a forthcoming volume of the *Proceedings*.

Once again the specialist guidance of the Bank of Scotland Investment Services, in particular the assistance of their adviser Mr Graham Miller, who has attended the F&A Committee meetings during the year, is acknowledged.

I thank the Convener of the Finance and Administration Committee, Mr Humphrey Holmes, and the Treasurer of the North-East Section, Mr John Cruse, for their work during the year, and I wish particularly to acknowledge the contribution of our Assistant Treasurer, Mrs Maureen McLeod, who continues to administer the Society's financial affairs so effectively.

The full accounts continue to expand and to require changes in presentation in line with current legislation and practice, this year including an analysis of net assets amongst funds. Copies of the full accounts of the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland 1996–7 are available to any Fellow or other interested party on application to the Society's office, at a cost of £2 (in the UK and Europe; £4 elsewhere) to cover production and postage.

The Director's Annual Report was approved by the Fellows on the proposal of Dr Atholl Murray, seconded by Mr J B Stevenson; the Treasurer's Report was approved by the Fellows on the proposal of Mr A Adamson, seconded by Dr Atholl Murray.

Editor's Report

The Editor gave his Report to the Fellowship.

He was delighted to announce that Volume 126, the first Volume of the *Proceedings* to appear under his Editorship had just been published and dispatched to Fellows. This, as with Volume 125, was a double volume, generously grant-aided by Historic Scotland, with a wide-ranging coverage of periods and topics; he said that this contained material of interest to all Fellows. The publication of double volumes was due, not only to the necessity to publish the excavation backlog, but also to the increasing sophistication of excavation site recording and specialist reports. The publication of double volumes was not entered into lightly by the Society's Publications Committee; the Committee considered the matter most carefully and the introduction of a maximum word count for excavation reports was under consideration. It was the intention to canvass Fellows widely on the issue.

There were no questions on the Annual Reports or Accounts and those concerned were thanked for their work.

The Robert B K Stevenson Award

Tribute was paid to R B K Stevenson and pleasure expressed at the presence of our Fellow Mrs Elizabeth Stevenson. The winner for 1997 was Mr Adrian Cox for a paper on the 'Backland Activities of Medieval Perth'. Mr Cox paid tribute to all his collaborators on the project and resulting paper.

Council

Mr Shepherd then took the Chair and announced that the ballot for Council had resulted in the election to Council of Mr Hugh Cheape as Vice-President; Mrs Jane Brann, Ms Sara Govan; Dr Alan Leslie and Mr Tam Ward. Mr Shepherd thanked all candidates who had allowed their names to go forward for election; the results had been very close. Thanks was given to Miss Tarrant, the retiring Vice-President and the retiring Councillors, Mrs Valerie Dean and Dr John Dent, for their work on behalf of the Society over the last three years. Tribute was paid to Mrs Jane Durham whose tragic death had been notified to Fellows in April.

Council for 1997–8 comprises:

PRESIDENT:

Professor Michael Lynch, MA, PhD, FRHistS,

FRSE.

VICE-PRESIDENTS:

Ian A G Shepherd, MA, FSA, MIFA. John B Stevenson, BA, FSA, MIFA.

Hugh Cheape, MA.

TREASURER

Alan Saville, BA, FSA, MIFA.

COUNCILLORS

Colleen Batey, BA, PhD, MIFA. Thomas O Clancy, BA, PhD. Brendan O'Connor, BA, DPhil.

Antoinette Watkins, BA.

B Anne Crone, BA, PhD, MIFA. Raymond G Lamb, BA, PhD. Peter J Murray, MA, PhD.

Olwyn Owen, BA, MA, MIFA. Jane Brann, BA, MIFA. Sarah Govan, MA, MSc. Alan Leslie, MA, PhD. Tam Ward.

EX OFFICIO

Chairman of North-East Section Publications Convener Research Convener Finance & Administration Convener Heritage Convener Representative to the Ancient Monuments Board of Scotland Representative of the

National Museums of Scotland

Paul Pillath, MSc, Dip Arch, DipUD, MRTPI. Ann MacSween, MA, MA, PhD, MIFA. Alan Saville, BA, FSA, MIFA, Humphrey M Holmes, CA. Fionna M Ashmore, BA, FSA. W David H Sellar, BA, LLB, FRHistS.

David V Clarke, BA, PhD, FSA.

Election of Fellows

The result of the ballot was announced; the election for Fellows had resulted in the election of 202 new Fellows of the Society. The following were elected Fellows:

HAMISH ALLAN, MA, 65 Thistle Street, Edinburgh.

JOHN W ALLEY, FBPA FN FPH, 6660 North River Road, Glendale, Milwaukee, WIS 35217, USA.

KIRSTEN ANDERSON, MPhil BA, 1552 Highland Drive, Lake Oswego, OR 97034, USA.

PROFESSOR ALEXANDER E ANTON, CBE MA LLB LLD FBA, 5 Seafield Drive West, Aberdeen.

CAMPBELL GRANT ARMOUR, MA ARICS, Broadfield, Symington, Biggar.

RICHARD KEITH AUSTIN, LLB DipHistArt, 27 Cramond Vale, Edinburgh.

REVD JAMES ARTHUR AYARS, MDiv, 939 Erringer Road, Simi Valley, CA 93065-5616, USA.

ANDREW CHARLES WILLIAM BAINES, BSc, 2/2, 165 Kenmure Street, Pollokshields, Glasgow.

WILLIAM LACY BARKLEY, 2509 Placid Place, VA Beach, VA 23456, USA.

DR JOHN BARNATT, 4 Highfield Avenue, Dove Holes, Nr Buxton, Derbyshire.

LIONEL DEMMINO BASS, JR, BS, 343 Hunter Lane, Charlotte, NC 28211, USA.

ELEANOR JOANNE BATES, LLB, The Birches, 7 Back Grangewood Terrace, Stobwood, Morpeth, Northumberland.

THE REVD DAVID FREDERICK EDWARD BATSON, AKC BD, Connel Craig, Dalswinton, Dumfriesshire.

DR ROBERT HOWARD BEWLEY, The Old Manse, Fore Street, Ashton Keynes, Swindon, Wiltshire.

MARK ANDREW BICKHAM, BS, 9251 Third Street, River Ridge, LA 70123, USA.

COLIN JAMES BLACKHALL, BSc MSc, Wardend, Durris, Banchory, Kincardineshire.

PROFESSOR IAN STEWART WILLIAM BLANCHARD, BSc PhD, Newlees Farm, Avonbridge, Falkirk.

DAVID NICHOLAS BONDY, LLB BMus, 2 Woodside, Cheshunt, Waltham Cross, Hertfordshire.

PATRICK DUNCAN HURDIS BOWDEN-SMITH, MRAC, Seaforth, Elie, Fife.

DR KEVIN BRADY, PhD, 493 Morgan Court, Holland, PA 18966, USA.

JOE ROOP BRICKEY, 6826 Old Forge Drive, Charlotte, NC 28226-7645, USA.

NICHOLAS FYFE BRIDGLAND, MA, 9B Great King Street, Edinburgh.

KENNETH BROPHY, BSc, 6 Machan Avenue, Larkhall, Lanarkshire.

NICHOLAS ALISTAIR BROWN, BSc DipArch ARIAS RIBA IHBC, Planning Department, Moray Council, High Street, Elgin, Moray.

LYNN DYSON BRUCE, BA MSc, 10 Parklands Place, Forestmill, By Alloa.

JOHN ALLEN CALDWELL, BA MSW LISW, 3002 Wilson Place N.E., Albuquerque, NM 87106, U S A.

ANDREW CALVERLEY, 6 Muirhead Drive, Linwood, Paisley.

BARBARA CAMERON, 1455 Westwind Road, Las Vegas, NV 89102-1334, USA.

KIRSTY CAMERON, Centre for Field Archaeology, University of Edinburgh, 12 Infirmary Street, Edinburgh.

DAVID RANDALL CAMPBELL, 8800-B S. Kingshill Dr, Salt Lake City, Utah 84121, U S A.

DR EWAN NEIL CAMPBELL, BSc PhD MIFA, Department of Archaeology, The University, Glasgow.

DR JEANNE CANNIZZO, PhD, 6 Lansdowne Crescent, Edinburgh.

MALCOLM CANT, FCII, 13 Greenbank Row, Edinburgh.

JAMES CARROLL, 33 Mossgiel Walk, Edinburgh.

DAVID BRIAN MELVILLE CAVAYE, BCom CA, 14 Raeburn Place, Edinburgh.

GEORGE GORDON CHESSOR, North Balnakattle, Newmachar, Aberdeen.

CONSTANCE GRAHAM CHISHOLM, 135 Warrender Park Road, Edinburgh.

STEPHEN JOHN CLANCY, MA, 36 Moorhouse Avenue, Meikleriggs, Paisley.

RORY EWAN ANDREW CLARKE, 17 New Wharf Road, London.

MONICA CLOUGH, MA FRHistS, Milton, Drumnadrochit, Inverness.

GRAHAM STANLEY COE, The Post Office, High Street, Sancton, York.

EDNA ANNE COLEMAN, BSc MSc, 84 Vandyke Road, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire.

STEPHEN JOHN CONNELLY, MA, 3 Viewpark Cottages, Gardners Lane, Dundee.

JAMES R COULTER, BS BA, 5406 N Camino De Las, Brisas, Tucson, AZ 85750-1481, U S A.

ANNE COWAN, Seaview, Southend, By Campbeltown, Argyll.

KATHLEEN DALLAS, Ashcroft, Nigg, Tain, Ross-Shire.

GILLIAN DAVIES, BA MA PIFA, Ochry Bryn, Llanbedr Hall Drive, Llanbedr Dc, Rhuthin, Clwyd.

ROBIN JOHN BURTON DAVIES, 22 Tyning Road, Winsley, Bradford-on-Avon, Wiltshire.

PHILLIPA DAVIES-WEATHERLEY, 50 Newlands Crescent, Aberdeen.

LT COL ROBERT NICHOLAS HARRY ALEXANDER de VINS WADE, Alma House,

Redford Infantry Barracks, Colinton Road, Edinburgh.

ANN DEAN, DA, West Lediken, Insch, Aberdeenshire.

ALISON DEEGAN, BSc, 9 Manygates Lane, Wakefield, West Yorkshire.

DR WILLIAM JOSEPH DEELEY, PhD, Reinickendorfer Str. 115, 13347 Berlin, Germany.

PAUL G DEMPSTER, BD DipMin, 19A Powis Crescent, Powis, Aberdeen.

MICHAEL DICKSON DUN, BA Mlitt, 59 Dalhousie Road, Barnhill, Dundee.

JOHN SYME DUNCAN, BSc, West Lodge, Balfunning, Balfron Station, Glasgow.

LOIS EVELYN DUNN, R.3 — Box 506A, Marshall, TX 75672, USA.

ANNA EDELSTEN, RGN BA, 8 Sunnyside Gardens, Aberdeen.

CHRISTOPHER VAUGHAN EDMANS, BSc CertEd, 33 Bonaly Gardens, Edinburgh.

ROGER WILLIAM ELLIOT, Springwood Gardens, Kelso, Roxburghshire.

ROBERT STANLEY FEARS, USNR(Ret) BA, 5412 E. Capri Avenue, Mesa, AZ 85206-2249, U S A.

JAMES DRUMMOND FERGUSSON, MA, 54 Bassett Road, London.

PAUL DAVID FIRTH, BSc MEd AMIEE, East Hillside, Cushnie, Alford, Aberdeenshire.

PAUL ANTONY FLYNN, 41 Stonehouse Park, Thursby, Carlisle, Cumbria.

AMANDA KATE FORSTER, 96 St Bernard's Road, Olton, Solihull, West Midlands.

RONALD EUGENE FRAZIER, 1887 Ivanhoe Court, Louisville, KY 40205, USA.

GERARD FRIELL, MA MIFA, 18 Hurst Road, Walthamstow, London.

MARGARET ANNE GARDINER, BA, Rigghead, Foulpapple Road, Newmilns, Ayrshire.

DAVID THOMAS SINCLAIR GIBB, 5 Gilbey Close, Wellingborough, Northants.

ARCHIBALD JAMES GRAHAM GIBSON, Old School House, Kinlochlaggan, Newtonmore, Inverness-shire.

LAURA ELIZABETH GLOAG, 7 Westerton Road, Cults, Aberdeen.

COLIN JOHN GOVIER, BArch, 7 Montpelier Terrace, Edinburgh.

ERIC JOHN GRAHAM, DipEd BEd BA MA, 21 Pump Hill, Loughton, Essex.

ALAN STEWART GRANT, BA MA MBA, 10 Leslie Place, Edinburgh.

JAMES GREEN, 117 High Street, Fort William.

SIMON THOMAS GREEN, MA, 2/3 Brown's Close, 65 Canongate, Edinburgh.

THE REVD PHILIP DAVIES GRIER, 20 Hope Avenue, North Manly, NSW 2100, Australia.

ERIKA BRITT GUTTMANN, BA MSc, Dept of Environmental Science, University of Stirling, Stirling.

NORMAN WALKER HALL, BSc, 29 Clifford Road, North Berwick.

JAMIE EDWARD HAMILTON, Flat 2/1, 335 Easter Road, Edinburgh.

DR KAREN VANESSA HARDY, PhD, Carsewell Farmhouse, Silverburn, Penicuik, Midlothian.

GRAHAM ST JOHN MERYON HARRIS, MA, 1 London Street, Edinburgh.

GARY WILLIAM HENDERSON, 743 Fletcher Street, Tonawanda, New York 14150, USA.

HAMISH HENDERSON, Laggan House, 9 Barassie Drive, Bridge of Weir, Renfrewshire.

KENNETH R HENDERSON, 12291 Lasselle Street, Moreno Valley, CA 92557, USA.

ELIZABETH HEPBURN, MA LLB DipLP, 102 High Street, Aberdeen.

KAREN MICHELLE HETHERINGTON, BSc, 89 Brunswick Street, Edinburgh.

DR BRIGITTA HOFFMANN, MA, 24 Holwood Drive, Manchester.

GEORGE BORLAND HORSPOOL, BArch FRIAS RIBA, 8 Spean Avenue, East Kilbride, Glasgow.

CHARLOTTE PATRICIA ('SHERRY') IRVINE, BA BPHE MSc, 118–2345 Cedar Hill Cross, Road, Victoria, BC V8P 5M8, Canada.

DAVID ALEXANDER IRVING, BSc, 9 Ashgrove Court, Elgin, Moray.

DR ROBIN JACKSON, BA PhD, 4 Deeview Gardens, Drumoak, Banchory, Aberdeenshire.

DAVID NEWMAN JOHNSON, BArch MA BA DipTPI FRSAI, 11 Chelmsford Avenue, Ranelagh, Dublin 6, Irish Republic.

RICHARD D JOHNSTON, 949 Daniel Street, Sun Prairie, Wisconsin 53590, USA.

JOHN FRANCIS FREDERICK KENNEDY, 251 Chopin Drive, Cambridge, Ontario, Canada.

JOHN ANGUS KENNEDY, CD, 191 Tupper Street West, Alliston, Ontario, Canada.

RICHARD StJOHN KENNEDY, BA, Allandale, Braehead, Dalry, Ayrshire.

DR COLIN CRAIG KIDD, MA DPhil, Department of Scottish History, University of Glasgow, 9 University Gardens, Glasgow.

GILLIAN LOUISE KING, BA, Churchill House, St John's School, Leatherhead, Surrey.

LESLEY GILLIAN KINGHAM, Ashdene, Hesket-Newmarket, Nr Wigton, Cumbria.

IAIN ALEXANDER KNOX, BA QTS, Tighnabruaich, 48 Hugar Road, High Spen, Northumberland.

DR SUSAN ELIZABETH KRUSE, BA MA MPhil PhD, Curachun, Heights of Fodderty, Strathpeffer, Ross-Shire.

CATHERINE E LAWSON, BA, 5635 Auburn Road #B, Jacksonville, Fl 32207, U S A.

COLIN LEE, LIB FCIArb FRSA, Banbury, 440 Hale Road, Hale Barns, Altrincham, Cheshire.

DAVID STUART CRAIGEN LEVIE, Gordon Lodge, Aboyne, Aberdeenshire.

MALCOLM SHAW LOGAN, 9 Annand Avenue, Ellon, Aberdeenshire.

DR DEBORAH J LONG, BA PhD, 46 The Causeway, Chippenham, Wiltshire.

SUZANNE H LYLE, MA, Andrew Melville Hall, North Haugh, St Andrews, Fife.

ISABELLA CAMERON McARTHUR, Lower Norwood, Kilchattan Bay, Rothesay, Isle of Bute.

RUSSEL EARL McARTHUR, DChir, 6105 11th Ave Meridian, MS 39305, USA.

PROFESSOR R I McCALLUM, CBE MD DSc FRCA, 4 Chessels Court, Edinburgh.

CREAR ROBERT JOHN McCARTNEY, DA, The Schoolhouse, Wiston, Biggar.

CHARLES NEIL MACAULAY, 83G Urquhart Road, Aberdeen.

RODERICK ALEXANDER McCOLL, LLB NP, 11 Burns Road, Aberdeen.

VICTOR DAVID McCUDDEN, 4/4 Whitson Place West, Edinburgh.

DUNCAN BLAIR MACDONALD, BSc, 26 St Elmo Road, Worthing, West Sussex.

MARY CRICHTON MACDONALD, BSc, 13 Ash Hill, Evanton, Dingwall, Ross-shire.

PAUL SIMON MACDONALD, BA, 2F1, 11 Edina Place, Edinburgh.

DOUGLAS MacGOWAN, BPA, 101 Irene Court #101, Belmont, CA 94002, USA.

IAN WILLIAM McGREGOR, 22 North Main Street, Wigtown, Newton Stewart, Wigtownshire.

GLENN McGUGAN, 1235 E. Hedgelawn Way, Southern Pines, NC 28387, USA.

CAROLINE BELINE KINCAID McINTYRE, BA, 8 Eildon Street, Edinburgh.

IAIN MACINTYRE, MD FRCSE FRCPE, 20 Lygon Road, Edinburgh.

IAIN A MACIVOR OF STRATHENDRY, Strathendry Castle, Leslie, Glenrothes, Fife.

GEORGE McKAY, Reay House, St Vigeans Brae, St Vigeans, Arbroath, Angus.

ANGUS MACKENZIE, 59 Monroe Street, PO Box 469, Honeoye Falls, NY 14472-0469, U S A.

PROFESSOR W J MACLENNAN, MD FRCP FRCPS FRCP(Lond), 26 Caiystane Avenue, Fairmilehead. Edinburgh.

CALUM MALCOLM MACLEOD, MA, 2nd Floor, 35 Kersland Street, Hillhead, Glasgow.

THE REVD NORMAN MACLEOD, 7 The Guildry, Blackness, Linlithgow, West Lothian.

ROBERT E MACLEOD, 22 Westcliff Drive, Mt Sinai, New York, NY 11766-2220, USA.

ANTHONY J McNICHOL, 1909 Green Street, Philadelphia, PA 19130, USA.

ANN LETITIA MACPHERSON, BA, 125 South Scotstoun, South Queensferry, West Lothian.

DR INGRID LINDSAY MAINLAND, BA PhD, Dept of Archaeology and Prehistory, University of Sheffield, Sheffield.

DR CATRIONA MARGARET MAISELS, MB ChB DPH, Loch Tummel House, Strathtummel, Pitlochry, Perthshire.

DAVID OLIVER MAISELS, MB ChB FRCS FRCS, Loch Tummel House, Strathtummel, Pitlochry, Perthshire.

GUILLAUME MARQUIS DE CHALANGE, Flat 17, Merlin Lodge, 2 Wharf Road, Woolston, Southampton.

JOHN MUIR MASON, MBE BL TEP NP, 27 Victoria Drive, Troon, Ayrshire.

PAUL CHARLES MAXWELL, HND BSc PgD, 10 Wellcroft Terrace, Hamilton.

STEPHEN HUGH MAXWELL, BA, 225 Grayson Street, Portsmouth, VA 23707, USA.

DR DARRYL MEAD, BSc PhD, 41 Cleveden Road, Glasgow.

GORDON MITCHELL, 35 Manor Road East, Toronto, Ontario M45 1P9, Canada.

MAJOR KENNETH RAYMOND MONROE, USA RET., 10354 Carrollwood Lane, Apt. 203, Tampa, Florida 33618–4721, U S A.

DR JACQUELINE ANNE MULVILLE, PhD BSc ARCS, 88 Kent Road, St Denys, Southampton.

THE REVD J DAVID MURDOCK, BA MDiv MMS, PO Box 39409, Pheonix, AZ 85069, U S A.

JAMES DOUGLAS NESS, Fairmount, Melville Terrace, Glenfarg, Perth.

ALEXANDER JOHN McDIARMID NICOLL, HND BA MSc, 45 Natal Road, London.

DR ELISABETH OKASHA, MA PhD, Department of English, University College Cork, Cork, Irish Republic.

IAN OXLEY, BSc AIFA, 74 Watson Avenue, St Andrews, Fife.

DR BYRON PARHAM, BA MA PhD, 10830 Split Rail Drive, Manassas, Virginia 20112, USA.

DR HENRY ARTHUR SHELDON PAYNE, BSc PhD, 17 Deanburn Road, Linlithgow, West Lothian.

TIMOTHY JAMES PHILLIPS, BA MA, Wantage Hall, Upper Redlands Road, Reading, Berkshire.

COLIN PHILSON, BA, Depute Rector's House, Queen Victoria School, Dunblane, Perthshire.

CAROL JANET POST, 930 Little Valley Road, Salt Lake City, Utah 84103, USA.

DANIEL RAY POTTER, BSc MA, Apt B, 616 West Maple St, Johnson City, TN 37604, U S A.

NEIL STUPPEL PRICE, BA, Prastgardsgatan 5B, S-752 30 Uppsala, Sweden.

DEREK GEORGE PYPER, 3 Keir Circle, Westhill, Skene, Aberdeenshire.

EOCHAIDH CAIBRE QRETENI, 3813-23Rd Ave So., Minneapolis, MN 55407-3011, U S A.

BRIAN QUAIL, MA, 2 Hyndland Avenue, Glasgow.

PATRICIA MAY RANNIE, MA DipLib ALA, c/o 51 Watson Street, Aberdeen.

JULIENNE RAPP, AA, 2043 Brannon Drive S.W., Austell, GA 30106-2900, USA.

PETER HENDRY REID, BA, 17 Stewart Street, Port Gordon, Buckie, Banff.

SUSAN MARGARET REID, 172 Newhaven Road, Edinburgh.

MARGARET RENNIE, Weston House, Bothwell, Glasgow.

JOHN SUTHERLAND RICHARDSON, 24 Glencoul Avenue, Dalgety Bay, Dunfermline, Fife.

JOHN ALEXANDER RIDDELL, 30 Barvas Walk, Aberdeen.

ANNE LESLIE ROBB, MB ChB, Avalon, 12 Feddon Hill, Fortrose, Ross-shire.

EDWARD MICHAEL ROBERTSON, BA, 6331 Orange Street #303, Los Angeles, CA 90048, U S A.

NEIL ROBERTSON, c/o Burnside of Balchimmy, Cushnie, By Alford, Aberdeenshire.

DR JOHN MALCOLM ROGERS, MA PhD, 23 Wallacebrae Drive, Danestone, Aberdeen.

ALLAN HUGH RONALD, MA. The Common Room, Dulwich College, London,

HARRY GORDON RORKE, MA, 5 Harviestoun Road, Dollar, Clackmannanshire.

FRANCES ANNE ROSS, 4 Island View, Achiltibuie, By Ullapool, Ross-shire.

PROFESSOR BRUCE ROYAN, BA MBA MIInfSc FIMgt FLA, Bowmont Tower, 41 Greenhill Gardens, Edinburgh.

CHRISTOPHER PAUL SANTINI, BA PGCertEd, Inglis Green House, 13 Inglis Green Road, Edinburgh. ROLAND SCHENK, 174 Hammersmith Road, London.

CHARLES FRANKLIN SCOTT, RS, 3415 Lochinvar Drive, Richmond, VA 23235-1873, U S A.

RONALD DAVID SCOTT, BA, 11 Belhaven Terrace, Glasgow.

IAN WILLIAM SEELEY, MA MEd BMus LRAM ARCM LTCL, Courtlands, 10 East Stewart Place, Hawick, Roxburghshire.

KATHLEEN McKAIN SHEPHERD, BA, R.D.3 Box 241-A, Reynoldsville, PA 15851, U S A.

ROBERT SHELDON SLEMMONS, AB BA, 1208 SW 29th St Terr, A-4, Topeka, KS 66611-2177, USA.

GRAHAM SMITH, FRICS, Godfrey House, Hollingbourne, Maidstone, Kent.

DOUGLAS ANGUS SPEIRS, MA Mlitt, 2 Leven Terrace, Edinburgh.

ROBERT SQUAIR, BSc, c/o Dept of Archaeology, University of Glasgow, 10 The Square, Glasgow.

MASIE C STEVEN, DipDiatetics SRD, Boisdale, Old Crieff Road, Aberfeldy, Perthshire.

COLIN SMITH STIRLING, BSc LRSC, 21 Baron Street, Renfrew.

DR CIARA MARIE CLARKE STRACHAN, BA MSc PhD, 33E High Street, Dunbar, East Lothian.

RICHARD STRATHIE, Weathercote Rig, Gattonside, Melrose, Roxburghshire.

FRASER STUART, 43 Morningfield Road, Aberdeen.

JOSEPH SUTHERLAND, 15 South Avenue, Cults, Aberdeen.

DOM STEFANO M M TEIXEIRA-de-ALBERGARIA, 99 Avenue Raymond, Poincare, Paris 75016,

MAJOR ALASTAIR LOGAN THOMPSON, 111 Station Road, Hampton, Middlesex.

LINDSEY JANE THOMSON, MA, 270 King's Gate, Aberdeen.

J ROBERT VIRR, 208 High Street, North Andover, Mass 01845, USA.

DOUGLASS WILLIAM WALLACE, BSc, 706 Grandview Ave, Topeka, Kansas 66606-1819, USA.

MARY J WAREHAM, 7704 Lambert Place, Norfolk, VA 23505, USA.

PROFESSOR IAIN WARES, Via G M Angioi, 34, Cagliari 09124, Sardinia, Italy.

DAVID WATSON, OStJ CA, 2 Ochil Road, Bishopbriggs, Glasgow.

HENRY JAMES WILKIE, 7 Rannoch Place, Stenhousemuir, Larbert, Stirlingshire.

LOUISE WILSON, BSc MB ChB DCH MRCP MD, 58 Thirlestane Road, Edinburgh.

JENNIFER JANE WOODCOCK, BA DipLI, 42 North Sudley Road, Aigborth, Liverpool.

ALEXANDER DOUGLAS WOOLF, BA MPhil, Department of Celtic, University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh.

The Roll

The record of the deaths of the following Fellows intimated during the year 1996-7 was not read at the Meeting. Dates indicate year of election.

William Alexander Armstrong, TD, MA, BA, Alnwickhill Road, Edinburgh.	1979
Frank Milner Best, MA, Besley House, Bishop's Frome, Worcester.	1964
William J S Brown, Tigh-na-Donn, 28 Prospecthill Street, Greenock, Renfrewshire.	
Robert Thomas Cheevers, FAS, Ballyhealy, Madeleine Road, RR2, Brantford, Ontario, Canada	1969

Thomas Robertson Collin, Oakley Bank, Kirkcudbright.	1972
William G Cowan, MBE, MA, CEng, FIMechE, FSIAD, FRSA, The Old Inn, Fowlis Wester, Crieff,	
Perthshire.	1983
Jane Mary Stow Durham, Scotsburn House, Kildary, Ross-shire.	1979
H W Durnell, Mead Park Road, Torquay, Devon. Corresponding Fellow.	
Henry David Mitchell Dutch, FIPR, 16 Blackwood Road, Milngavie, Glasgow.	1985
Stuart Lowe Harris, 23 Dovecot Grove, Edinburgh.	1991
Dr Gillian Hawtin, BA, PhD, Honey Cottage, 5 Clifton Road, Wimbledon, London.	1964
Captain John Hay of Hayfield, FRComS, Delgatie Castle, Turriff, Aberdeenshire.	1980
Cedric Jennings Holyoake, CEng, MIMechE, MIMarE FHS, 28 Elmhurst Drive, Hornchurch, Essex.	1988
Professor Edward Martyn Jope, MA, BSc, FBA, FSA. MRIA, 1 Chalfont Road, Oxford.	1961
Ronald Macdonald Laing, MA, Oldtown of Leys, Inverness.	1975
Robert Lewis Campbell Lorimer, MA, Balcorrachy, Strathtummel, Pitlochry, Perthshire.	1990
Professor Samuel George Edgar Lythe, MA, 90 Dundee Road, Broughty Ferry, Dundee.	1968
Mairi Campbell MacIntyre, MA, Torra Farm, Port Ellen, Isle of Islay.	1992
Frederick Severne Mackenna, MVD, MA, MB, FSA, Dun Alisdair, Barmore Road, Tarbert, Argyll.	1943
John D MacLeod, Jr., AB, MDiv, ThM, ThD, DD, 809 Davidson Street, Raleigh, NC 27609, U S A.	1992
D W McLeod, 27B Fox Meadow Road, Ledminster, MA 01453, U S A.	1995
A F Melles, BA, MBA, FSS, MBIM, 1 Cherrytree Loan, Balerno, Midlothian.	1993
Dr J M Murdoch, FRCPE, FRCPG, 16 Braehead Drive, Edinburgh.	1995
William Nimmo, MC, BA, LLB, WS., 9 Succoth Gardens, Edinburgh.	1986
Edward Mervyn Patterson, DSc, MRIA, FRSE, FGS, FRGS, 25 Caldwell Road, West Kilbride,	
Ayrshire.	1981
Bent Erhard Petersen, Vestre Landevej 283, 4952 Stokkemarke, Denmark.	1980
James Wallace Reid, 1167 Old Stage Court, McLean, Virginia 22102, USA.	1988
Ernest Reynolds, Carmichael House Nursing Home, 10 Dudhope Terrace, Dundee.	1974
Dr David Lionel Roberts, MA, Half Bolvean, Dunvegan, Isle of Skye.	1976
Professor Anne S Robertson, MA, DLitt, FMA, FSA, 31 Upper Glenburn Road, Bearsden, Glasgow.	
Lt Col William O Ross, USAF(Ret), 12502 Apache Avenue, Suite 1, Savannah, GA 31419, U S A.	1989
Joseph Arthur George Roussos, FAIL, BGS, MA, MS, ABD, CPM,	
Tigh-na-Greine, 2143 Baywood Road, Fayetteville, NC 28301, USA.	1989
Professor Ronald Morton Smith, 229 Heath Street East, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.	1948
Annie W M Stewart, BA, 1 Pleasance Court, Falkirk.	1964
Dr Dennis Gordon Teall, LCP, MEd, PhD, Teallach Estates, 30 Woodnewton Road, Nassington,	
Peterborough.	1978
Peter George Vasey, BA, MSc, c/o Scottish Record Office, HM General Register House, Edinburgh.	1991

Miss Tarrant again expressed the President's apologies for absence due to a long-standing commitment in The Netherlands. He hoped shortly to be able to announce developments in the future Lecture and Events Programme and was very conscious of the treat he was missing in the form of the evening's lecture.

Mr Shepherd then welcomed Mr Mark Collard, Edinburgh City Archaeologist, and Mr Fraser Hunter of the Department of Archaeology of the National Museums of Scotland who read the following Communication:

'The Cramond Lioness'.

The formal meeting concluded with thanks to the Speakers and to the Staff of the Society.

A Reception for Fellows then followed in the Bird Hall.

Notes for Contributors

PROCEDURES FOR SUBMISSION

Typescripts & illustrations (copies only; not artwork) should be sent to The Editor, Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, Royal Museum of Scotland, and should arrive no later than 30 November of each year. The Society does not accept responsibility for the safety of typescripts, illustrations or computer discs. Contributors are urged to retain a copy of each item.

A Submission Sheet should accompany all contributions and is available on request.

TYPESCRIPTS

Typescripts should be accompanied by a 3.5" disc version, clearly marked with the title, filename, date, contributor's name and type of software (Word, Wordperfect or Text preferred). Text should be typed on one side of A4 paper in 12 pt font or larger, double-spaced, with wide margins and full pagination. Two copies are required of all typescripts & illustrations.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Responsibility for obtaining written permission for the use of copyright material and for the payment of associated fees lies with contributors; appropriate acknowledgements should also be given. In particular, contributors should consult the Ordnance Survey Copyright Section regarding any illustrations based on current editions of OS maps.

PROOFS

One set only of proofs will be sent to the principal author; contributors will bear the cost of any significant changes requested at the proof-reading stage.

OFFPRINTS

Twenty-four free offprints are supplied to the principal author of each paper. Additional copies can be ordered at proof-reading stage.

PUBLICATION COSTS

Contributors are requested to advise the Editor — at an early date — whether their paper is likely to be supported by a publication grant or other form of sponsorship. Contributors are urged to make every effort to seek sponsorship from an appropriate source.

ILLUSTRATIONS

The highest quality is expected in all line drawings and photographs which are submitted. Drawings should be finished versions, but copies only are sought in the first instance (pending possible revisions). Substandard illustrations will be returned for revision; a paper with poor illustrations may not be accepted for publication.

Titles should not be included within the artwork for drawings, but should be given in separate captions for which an allowance of space must be made.

Numbered captions (in a single sequence for both drawings and photographs) should be given on a separate sheet.

Proportions of original artwork should allow reduction for reproduction within the maximum space available on a page of the Proceedings (190 mm by 140 mm). It is the responsibility of the contributor to 'size' illustrations, by annotating each item to indicate the percentage reduction required for publication. Care and foresight should be exercised in ensuring that all elements of original artwork — and especially text (eg feature numbers or place-names) — are of a sufficient quality and size to remain clear and legible after reduction for publication.

A metric scale and north-point should appear in every drawing.

STYLE

The style of typescript, illustrations and references should generally conform to the latest volume of the Proceedings.

Authors' names are given in full in the title credits for principal authors, but names of contributing authors can be given as initials & surname. eg by Herbert Mitchell

with a contribution by M Mulvihill

Academic titles need not be given (ie H Mitchell, not Dr H Mitchell).

The address (including post-code) of the principal author/authors is given as a footnote to the title page of each paper.

An abstract should appear above the main text; this should be no more than 200 words.

Headings will be ordered at typesetting stage and may simply be given in roman type — preceded and followed by a line space — in contributors' own typescripts.

Dimensions should be given in metric units, in kilometres, metres or millimetres, but not in centimetres (0.2 m or 200 mm, but not 20 cm; please note spacing). Imperial units may be quoted from earlier sources, but the metric equivalent should also be given, in brackets.

Numbers can be given in full text where less than 10 (ie one to nine), but as numerals for any numbers greater than 10, as 'five samples from each pit', but '22 sherds'.

Dates should be condensed where possible as '1936–8' (not 1936–1938); however, 'from 1936 to 1938' is also acceptable. Note that the -teen years are an exception, as 1914-18 (not 1914-8). The first to ninth centuries may be given in text. All others should be given in numerals, as 'pottery from the 19th century', but note '19th-century pottery'.

The convention AD 413x427 describes dates between which an historical event is thought to have occurred; the convention AD 413-27 describes the duration of an event.

20 September 1996 (not, for instance, September 20th 1996)

1660s, not 1660's.

AD 413, but 427 BC (note small caps).

National Grid references should be given for all archaeological sites or historic buildings which are central to the paper. References can be given as NGR: NO 7189 2052 (not NO71892051).

Compass orientations are written in full for simple orientations ('to the north', 'from the south-east'; but longer compounds should be abbreviated ('towards NNE', 'in a WSW direction'). A forward slash indicates alignment or axial orientation, as 'the building lay on an east/west alignment'.

Italics are not required for c (for circa).

Languages (ie quotations) other than English should normally be accompanied by a translation.

Dead languages (eg Latin quotations) should appear in italics.

Archaeological periods follow the most widely established usage: Mesolithic, early Neolithic but Early Bronze Age, Iron Age, Early Christian, early/later/post-medieval, Middle Ages, Early Modern, modern.

Personal titles should always be given with a starting capital, as the Duke of Sutherland, the Secretary of State (not the duke of Sutherland or the Secretary of state).

Place-names should follow current editions of the Ordnance Survey. Significant changes or variants should be identified and discussed, as appropriate.

Points can be omitted (for economy of space) where possible: Dr, eg, ed, edn, eds, F5002, ie, Mr, Ms, no 6, nos 12 & 14, et al, pers comm, vol 126, illus 12.

Numbered features, samples, artefacts and so forth should be clearly identified in the text. Thus, 'The sherds from vessel 52 were recovered from sample 5002, representing the basal fill, context 124, of cist 7' (not 'sherds from 52 were recovered from 5002, representing the basal fill, 124, of 7').

Single 'quotation marks' are used for text and titles, as well as for direct speech, and double "quotation marks" only for quotes-within-quotes. Indented passages need not appear in quotation marks.

Archaic letter forms, in quotations from documentary sources, should be represented by the phonetic or orthographic modern equivalents, as appropriate. Common examples include the following: archaic 'long' form of S; thus 'house', not 'houfe'; formely interchangeable I and J; thus 'item', not jtem'; formerly interchangeable forms U and V; thus 'house' not 'houve'; obsolete letter yogh; thus 'yards' not 'zards'; Anglo-Saxon letter thorn, thus 'the' not 'ye'

REFERENCES

The Harvard system — with (author, date & pages) set within the text — should always be used when the majority of references are to published books or articles.

End-notes may, however, be used for articles on historical topics, in which the references are predominantly to documentary material (see, for example, *Proc Soc Antiq Scot*, 123 (1993), 413–18).

Footnotes should never be used.

References in the text should accompany the author's name directly. Thus, 'in Mitchell's (1996, 35) opinion...' and not 'in Mitchell's opinion (1996, 35)...'.

Please note the spacing and word order of the corresponding bibliographic entry. eg Mitchell, H 1996 'Estate lands in Clogheen', *Proc Clogheen Hist Archaeol Soc*, 1 (1997), 1–37.

Titles of foreign journals should be given in full, but titles of the main British and Irish journals can be abbreviated (eg *Proc Soc Antiq Scot*), according to the forms prescribed by the Council for British Archaeology's Signposts for Archaeological Publication (1991; 3rd edn).

Abbreviated titles may be used in the text for titles of standard historical reference works (eg Acts Parl Scot) according to the forms given by the supplement to the Scottish Historical Review, 42 (1963). However, all such abbreviations should be given in their full or expanded form in the list of references at the end of each article.

Documentary sources should be identified by a full archive number and relevant repository. eg SRO GD/540/2137 Scottish Records Office. 'Confirmation of a charter of endowment of lands in Clogheen to John Mitchell', Mitchell Muniments.

Maps should also be identified by a full title in references.

eg OS 1878 Ordnance Survey 'Argyllshire', Sheet CIV.12 (1876-7), 1:2500.

RADIOCARBON DATES

Full details of radiocarbon dates should be given in the form of a table, identifying, ideally, the lab code, dated sample material and dC13 value, as well as a value for the date in radiocarbon years or yrs BP.

Lab No	Material dated	yrs BP	d13C%
GU-3456	Alder charcoal from Pit 42	4321 ± 60	-25.2

The d13C value may help in identifying 'odd' samples and can be useful in analysing problems in the interpretation of dates.

Calibrations to one and two sigma ranges (ie first and second orders of probability) may also be given in tables. Where dates are given in calibrated form, the particular calibration programme should be identified with reference to a published source.

Radiocarbon dates may be quoted in discussion as BP or cal BP, and as cal BC or cal AD (eg 'before 4321 ± 60 BP (GU-9123)' or 'before 2923 to 3329 cal BC (GU-9123)'). BP is commonly used by natural scientists, especially in reference to dates which fall before the range of existing calibrations curves; cal BC and cal AD are more commonly used in archaeological papers. The use of BC or AD, alone, is appropriate to historical and astronomical dates only, and should not be applied to radiocarbon dates. The use of BC uncal is also discouraged.

EDITING

The Editor works at the Society's offices in the Royal Museum of Scotland (direct tel 0131-247 4138). All papers are refereed by members of the Editorial Board, or other competent referees as required, prior to editing. Decisions by the Editor — with the Editorial Board — are final, but full and early consultation with contributors will be pursued regarding any proposed changes to their texts.